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Emergence and Defeat of Nixon’s Family Assistance Plan (FAP)

The events leading to and from the proposal of FAP have a conceptual unity that admits of separate treatment as a long range development in social policy.  The proposal was made, however, as part of an over-riding short term strategy to bring down the level of internal violence.  This is a matter to be dealt with many years hence, if ever.  (Daniel Patrick Moynihan, The Politics of a Guaranteed Income: The Nixon Administration and the Family Assistance Plan 1973, p. 12)

EMERGENCE OF FAP

At the height of the Great Depression, the Franklin Delano Roosevelt Administration took advantage of the unstable political situation to begin construction of a federal safety net of social programs.  The 1935 Social Security Act consolidated previous state level programs that supported the children of those made widows during wartime into a single program with an element of federal support.1 That Aid to Dependent Children (ADC), or welfare, program provided benefits to the children of all destitute widows.  The states participated in ADC on a voluntary basis – by 1939 all but eight of them.  State and local jurisdictions administered the program.   A state funded the program at a level of its choosing and the federal government supplemented the state funds with 50% more.  In 1950 the program started to provide funds to support a caretaker relative also.  During the 1950s the number of those served by welfare expanded by 17%.


A presidential campaign swing through West Virginia in 1960 made then Senator John F. Kennedy aware of extensive poverty in sections of Appalachia.  Kennedy defeated Richard Nixon in a close vote shortly thereafter.  In 1961 Kennedy got Congress to add support for an unemployed parent to the ADC program and changed the name of the program to Aid to Families with Dependent Children – Unemployed Parent (AFDC-UP).  In 1962 Congress added funds for a second caretaker parent and changed the name of the program to Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC).  From 1960 to 1964 the number of those served by the welfare program rose by 31%. 


In 1962 Kennedy also asked his Chairman of the Council of Economic Advisors, Walter Heller, for a copy of Michael Harrington’s then newly published The Other America.  That book analyzed the depth and extent of poverty in the United States in considerable detail.  Heller recommended Kennedy declare a war on poverty and authorize Administration economic planners to design initiatives to fight the war.  Three days before his assassination, Kennedy told Heller to move forward with such a program.  The political story of Nixon’s 1969 FAP proposal begins with the consolidation of welfare under Franklin Delano Roosevelt, the welfare expansions under Kennedy, and the War on Poverty conceived under Kennedy in 1962-1963. 


In his 1962 Capitalism and Freedom, the politically conservative economist Milton Friedman proposed a negative income tax (NIT) to alleviate poverty.  While working for the U. S. Treasury Department in the late 1940s and early 1950s, he noticed that incomes of low income individuals fluctuated a lot from year to year.  He ruminated about a government program to smooth out the fluctuations and came up with his NIT proposal, a version of which became the economic center of Nixon’s 1969 FAP proposal.  


Under Friedman’s NIT, government would guarantee a minimum income for each individual and establish a negative income tax rate at which to tax the earned income of those who would receive payments.  The size of the payment to those receiving one would be the guaranteed minimum income, minus the negative income tax rate times the individual’s earnings.  The break-even income – the income above which one would receive no payment – would be the guaranteed minimum income divided by the negative income tax rate. The regular graduated income tax system would govern those with earned incomes above the break-even income.  For example, suppose that the guaranteed minimum income was $1,000 and the negative income tax rate was 50%.  Then an individual who earned $500 would receive a payment of $1,000 minus (50% x $500) = $750, bringing that individual’s income up to $1,250.  Only individuals with earned income below $1,000/.5 = $2,000 would receive a payment.  


Friedman became Barry Goldwater’s economic advisor in the 1964 presidential campaign, but Goldwater never proposed an NIT.  Goldwater lost to Johnson in a landslide.  However, economists across the political spectrum – including Robert Lampman of the politically liberal Institute for Research on Poverty at the University of Wisconsin at Madison – looked with favor on Friedman’s NIT proposal.  At Lampman’s suggestion, some economists at Johnson’s Office of Economic Opportunity (OEO) – War on Poverty headquarters – developed an NIT plan in the summer of 1965.  In the fall of 1965, and again in the summer of 1966, OEO presented versions of its NIT plan to the Bureau of the Budget.  However, an NIT “was not regarded as a serious proposal that could be enacted in less than a decade.”2

Walter E. Williams was a young Friedman follower and NIT advocate at Johnson’s OEO who left the agency in 1965 and later became a renowned academic economist.  In 1972 he wrote: “In retrospect one can ask why Mr. Johnson turned a deaf ear on a proposal that in its basic mechanics was similar to the one that President Nixon was to endorse a few years later.”3 He argued that Kennedy-Johnson Administration undersecretary of Health, Education, and Welfare (HEW) Wilbur Cohen was not keen on an NIT and had great influence with Johnson on social programs.  Also, the costs of the Vietnam War peaked in the mid-1960s so that for budgetary reasons the Johnson Administration didn’t want to undertake a major new domestic social program initiative.  Finally, both Congress and the public were hostile to an NIT.  Though Williams’ explanation touched on some important true points, his own NIT advocacy clouded his answer to a good question.

Social Program Initiatives under Johnson: A Liberal Extension of the New Deal

The Johnson Administration was not averse to guns and butter at the same time.  As Vietnam War costs peaked, the Administration initiated its Great Society panoply of social programs to extend the social safety net whose construction Roosevelt had begun as the New Deal of the Great Depression.  Cohen became HEW Secretary in the Johnson Administration and was the Great Society program architect.  Cohen’s strategy was to take advantage of what was politically possible and popular to expand the social safety net.  He had himself started work on that safety net in the first place as one of the architects of Social Security under Roosevelt. 


Social Security is in effect a workers’ mandatory savings and pension program.  What made it politically possible in 1935 was the threat that the unemployment of the Great Depression posed to domestic tranquility.  Social Security provided one means to contain the labor unrest that emerged in the 1930s as unemployment soared.  The program pensioned off older workers with seniority and gave their jobs to younger workers, among whom unemployment was highest and who grew most restive.  The pay-as-you-go financing approach cleverly taxed the earnings of those who continued to work to pay the pension benefits of those who retired.  Without Social Security in the mid to late 1930s, many more younger workers than actually did would have fallen into poverty.  What made Social Security politically popular was that all who worked qualified to receive its pension benefits and most families had at least one worker or aspirant worker.


In contrast to the New Deal legacy of government social safety net programs, Friedman preferred poverty alleviation through voluntary charity.  However, if government were to alleviate poverty he thought that the most efficient approach was for a democratic polity to stipulate a guaranteed minimum income and NIT rate.  The NIT would fit into the graduated income tax system at the low income end.  Friedman thought that the NIT-graduated-income-tax system should replace what he saw as piecemeal income transfer programs that did not always well target the poor.  He explicitly mentioned old age assistance, social security benefit programs, ADC, general assistance, farm price supports, and public housing.  So the Johnson New Dealers wanted to increment existing social safety net programs while Friedman wanted a comprehensive NIT-graduated-income-tax system to replace them.


Friedman was right that by the 1960s many who received benefits from a program like Social Security were in little danger of sinking into poverty without the program.  Yet Social Security remained politically popular while expansion of government transfers to the poor met stiff political opposition.  A New Dealer like Cohen would question the wisdom of trying to replace with an NIT the very Social Security program that he, Cohen, had helped to establish.  Inefficient as it was at targeting the poor, Social Security still prevented quite a few seniors from falling into poverty.  About the minimum guarantee level Friedman merely observed:  “I see no way of deciding ‘how much’ except in terms of the amount of taxes we – by which I mean the great bulk of us – are willing to impose upon ourselves for the purpose.”4 Cohen would recognize that to replace a Social Security system, initiated when fear of falling into poverty was widespread, with an NIT in a period of greater prosperity would run the risk of a new program that made some of the elderly poor worse off.  He would be loath to take the risk. 


The Great Society program had two major legislative initiatives that addressed poverty.  The 1964 Economic Opportunity Act followed through on Kennedy’s request of Heller and established the OEO from which the Kennedy/Johnson and Johnson Administrations waged their War on Poverty.  Johnson made Sargent Shriver, the brother-in-law of Kennedy who had founded the Peace Corps, the first OEO head.  Then in 1965 Cohen paired a popular Medicare program for seniors with a Medicaid program that subsidized health care for the poor and managed to get Congress to establish them both.


Polls in 1964-1965 showed that Congress and a majority of the public did not favor a direct assault on poverty in the form of additional expanded government transfers to the poor.  So the Johnson Administration gave Shriver a limited mandate and limited funding for the War on Poverty.  Long range planning for a political moment when circumstances might become more propitious for a comprehensive NIT was one OEO initiative.  The agency also sought to supply the poor with economic opportunities that were previously denied to them by attacking some of the causes and consequences of poverty.  Among its many initiatives, OEO began Head Start to provide poor children pre-school education and the Job Corps to give poor youth jobs that the labor market did not supply.  The agency also funded neighborhood health and legal services centers to provide the poor with medical and legal services that they could not afford to buy.


OEO also sought to define poverty and create a social consensus around the definition.  Working at the Social Security Administration in 1964, Mollie Orshansky proposed a definition.  First she calculated the minimum income a family would require to purchase food for all family members to eat the least expensive nutritionally acceptable diet described by the Department of Agriculture.  She multiplied that figure by three because the average family spent one third of its income on food at that time.  The result she called the poverty line – a family below it was poor by definition.  OEO adopted this poverty line definition of poverty to delineate who the poor were.


In 1962 the leftwing political activist group Students for a Democratic Society (SDS) had published its founding Port Huron Statement.  That statement noted that “[w]e live amidst a national celebration of economic prosperity while poverty and deprivation remain an unbreakable way of life for millions in the ‘affluent society’.”5 In 1963 SDS launched its “Economic Research and Action Projects [ERAP] of several hundred young men and women working in the ghettoes of a dozen cities to improve the lot of the poor through direct action and ‘community unions’.”6

OEO came into existence in 1964 as social unrest mounted in largely poor urban black neighborhoods around the country.  Based simultaneously within the federal government and the poor neighborhoods, OEO developed a series of initiatives that imitated the SDS ERAP and sought to empower the poor politically with what Shriver called a “community action” strategy.  These initiatives urged the poor to organize and gain influence in the development of their neighborhoods.  However, unlike SDS, OEO could also call attention of the highest echelons of the Executive branch to either organized, or unorganized, social unrest.  Often this OEO inside political connection secured funds for education, jobs, and services that the poor sorely needed, and hence possibly tempered the social unrest.  


However, at times OEO efforts looked like one government agency on behalf of the poor attacking another government agency, ostensibly set up to help the poor.  For example, OEO legal service lawyers often found themselves defending a poor mother against a state or local welfare agency than denied her benefits.  Or they might support a poor family against a federally funded local public housing agency that rejected its application for an apartment.  These clashes outrages conservatives in the U. S. Congress who accused OEO of fomenting social disorder and sought to cut its budget.


In contrast, OEO liberal supporters saw its program as relieving social frustration before it exploded into disorder.  A 1965 memo from OEO head Shriver to Johnson noted “that the most significant single thing combating potential riots this summer is your war against poverty.”7 A summer 1965 letter from NYC Mayor Robert F. Wagner to Johnson stressed that a threatened Neighborhood Youth Corps fund cut “could result in explosive consequences.”8 A December 1966 memo from Vice President Hubert Humphrey urged Johnson to restore proposed OEO cuts since “local officials are desperately afraid of what is going to happen this summer.”9 A February 1968 memo from Shriver asked Johnson for a supplementary appropriation because “there is much more which could be done to ease tensions and at the same time provide hope and justice for the millions who will be seething in the cities.”10
The Welfare System Crisis and Urban Social Disorder

The Johnson Administration assault on poverty was never a politically smooth operation.  The Shriver mavericks – relatively open to ideas of political currents to both their left (SDS) and their right (Friedman) – fought on the left flank, with at times apparent self-defeating activism and ineffectual comprehensive planning.  Cohen led the efforts at incremental extension of the New Deal safety net on the right flank.  Despite their uneasy coexistence, the two currents made progress in the mid-1960s.  Cohen managed to consolidate the Medicare/Medicaid gains while Shriver dispensed funds to the poor, perhaps lessened unrest, and certainly caught political flak from conservatives that otherwise might have found its way to the Cohen front.  However, as the political situation moved toward the 1968 presidential campaign an unanticipated development shook the relative stability of the Johnson anti-poverty effort.  Though the Administration took no programmatic initiative on the welfare front, the number of those served by AFDC rose 76% between 1964 and 1969.11

Most states and localities that administered AFDC had stringent rules to qualify for benefits in the early 1960s.  For example, “man-in-the-house” rules disqualified mothers living with, but not formally married to, a man.  “Man-in-the-house” rules impacted poor black more than poor white families because black family structure was less formal, a legacy of the decimation of black families under slavery.  So in the early 1960s a much larger portion of poor black moms than white moms in similar economic circumstances were not on the welfare rolls.

Starting in the early 1960s, the civil rights movement boosted the sense of self-worth of poor black moms and then the 1964 Civil Rights Act suggested that “man-in-the-house” and similar rules might be illegal racial discrimination.  In 1966 George Wiley, a leading figure from the civil rights group the Congress of Racial Equality (CORE), founded the National Welfare Rights Organization (NWRO).  Operating largely in the big cities of the North, NWRO aimed to organize poor black women and secure welfare benefits previously denied them.12  

“Having out of wedlock children” and “living in sin,” previously stigmatized, became more legitimate social practices as the 1960s cultural shift took hold.  Black moms in the poor neighborhoods of the large Northern cities descended on welfare offices and demanded benefits.  At the same time, disorders in those neighborhoods continued to mount.  AFDC administrators, who had often previously scrutinized applications carefully, frequently acted as a social safety valve to let off steam, stood aside, and allowed the welfare rolls to mushroom.

The expansion of the welfare rolls created both a fiscal and a political crisis for the Johnson Administration.  Fiscally, state governments – that provided two thirds of the funds for the AFDC program – reeled from the increased costs.  Politically, much of the white working class – an important core Democratic constituency – balked at the welfare expansion.  These socially conservative elements of the white working class saw the welfare expansion as a challenge to their way of life.  To them the expansion seemed to sanction illegitimacy, reward those who revolted instead of worked, and penalize those who played by the social rules and worked for a living, taking the best available job no matter how meager the pay.  These elements of the white working class threatened to bolt the Democratic Party in 1968.


To further complicate an already complex political situation, the emergence of the welfare crisis coincided with a ratcheting up of the anti-Vietnam War movement.  Since patriotism too was a part of their way of life, socially conservative elements of the white working class among the Democratic coalition who opposed welfare often supported the Vietnam War.  As social tensions mounted, so too did tensions within the Johnson Administration and the Democratic Party.  The dominant New Dealers on the right, who counted on bedrock working class support, grew disoriented as the Party base fragmented largely along racial lines.  

The Party mavericks remained open to left anti-Vietnam War currents flowing from outside the Party and to organized elements like NWRO emerging from the poor black urban neighborhoods where the disorders mounted.  That made the New Dealers nervous. Eventually the tension over the Vietnam War grew so great that Johnson decided not to run for a second term.  Senator Eugene McCarthy gathered the maverick elements from the left of the Party into a strong anti-War run for the Democratic Party presidential nomination.  Vice President Humphrey defeated the internal Party insurgency, but the Democrats entered the 1968 campaign seriously divided on the Vietnam War and domestic social policy issues, especially welfare.  


Liberals and conservatives tended to agree that, in a certain respect, the welfare system was perverse.  Recipients lost $1 of benefits for every $1 of reported earnings.  Thus the welfare system had an implicit tax rate on earnings of 100%.  This either discouraged work or encouraged the non-report of earnings.  Thus the explicit tax rate, which one could set at less than 100%, was a feature of an NIT that both conservatives and liberals could look with favor upon.

As the presidential campaign got underway, the idea of an NIT gained considerable support among academic economists.  In the spring of 1968 over 1200 economists from 150 colleges and universities signed a petition in favor of an NIT.  In a June 10 Newsweek column, the liberal economist Paul Samuelson argued that an NIT was an idea whose time had come.13 However, in a September 16 Newsweek column Friedman warned that the widespread political support for an NIT among economists was deceptive because an NIT meant different things to different people.


Outlining an NIT with a $1,500 guaranteed minimum income and a 50% negative income tax rate (so a break-even income of $3,000) for a family of four, Friedman argued:

By varying the break-even income and the negative tax rate, by adding the negative income tax to present programs rather than substituting it for them, it is possible to go all the way from the rather modest and, I believe eminently desirable plan just outline to irresponsible and undesirable plans that would involve enormous redistribution of income and a drastic reduction in the incentive for people to work.14 

The petition that circulated among academic economists had said nothing about replacing existing programs with the NIT it advocated.  For this reason, Friedman was unable to sign the petition for his own invention.


Despite the wide support among academic economists for an NIT, Nixon did not propose one during the campaign.  He sensed the division within the Democratic base on the welfare issue.  Rather than make a specific programmatic commitment to an NIT, he vaguely proposed “welfare reform” to try to win over socially conservative white working class elements to the Republicans.  As the campaign developed, liberals to the left of the Democratic Party like Piven and Cloward theorized that real welfare reform was the continuing expansion of the rolls and urged it forward.15 OEO and NWRO continued to help poor black moms get on the rolls.  Congressional conservatives reacted with more harsh criticism of OEO, accusing it of colluding with radicals to stir up social disorder.  In part because he cut into white working class support for the Democrats, Nixon beat Humphrey.

Holdover NIT Plans: Available Antidote for a Political Crisis 

Some who had worked on NIT plans under Johnso at OEO stayed on under Nixon and continued to do so at OEO and HEW.  So Nixon had available to him some thought out NIT planning.  Also, Daniel Patrick Moynihan became both an NIT advocate and a very close White House advisor to Nixon on urban affairs.  Williams argues that the presence of the persuasive Moynihan in Nixon’s inner circle is why the president incorporated an NIT into his welfare reform plan.16 Moynihan was certainly persuasive on urban issues, but attributing the NIT decision to his influence on Nixon begs some important questions.  

Why did Nixon choose Moynihan for his close aide?  Moynihan was a Democrat, closer in outlook to the New Dealers than the mavericks.  He had just spent several years teaching at Harvard where he had clashed with the anti-Vietnam War movement.  Also, the “community action” strategy of OEO stemmed from a provision of the 1964 Economic Opportunity Act that required “maximum feasible participation” of the poor in planning for their communities.  In 1968 Moynihan published Maximum Feasible Misunderstanding.  The book argued that the OEO “community action” interpretation of “maximum feasible participation” divided the poor along racial lines and resulted in Congress holding back what the poor really needed – money.  For Nixon, Moynihan was an ideal choice of aide.  He was a Democrat so that Nixon could argue his policy was bipartisan and reconciling.  He had impeccable academic credentials on urban affairs, and so was an expert.  However, Moynihan also shared Nixon’s conservative suspicion of the political activist approaches to social change emanating from the left.

Why did Moynihan decide to serve Nixon?  Moynihan felt that he well understood the issues of poverty and welfare from his own experience.  His origins were in the Irish working class.  His father deserted the family when he was nine and his mother raised them, living above a saloon that she managed, in a tough NYC neighborhood.  He cut his political teeth in the Democratic machine politics of New York and served in the Labor Department under both Kennedy and Johnson, where he helped in early planning of the War on Poverty.17 He saw OEO “community action” as going in the wrong direction if its purpose was to alleviate poverty.  Under Nixon, he hoped to get the War on Poverty back on track.  Also, he joined the Nixon Administration in the same spirit that some of the white working class moved over to the Republicans.  

Why did Moynihan favor an NIT?  To continue the War on Poverty more in a New Deal than activist vein, he at first favored a family allowance system that provided a stipend, whose size depended on the number of children, to every family.  Many European countries had such allowances and such a program seemed like a natural extension of existing programs begun during the New Deal.  But the academic support for an NIT that emerged across the political spectrum during the campaign could not have failed to impress the academic Moynihan.  


If for Moynihan an NIT became a way to exploit the political situation to strengthen the social safety net whose construction began in the 1930s, why did a conservative like Nixon sign off on an NIT?  Of course Friedman had invented it, so an NIT had a conservative pedigree.  However, Moynihan gives a crystal clear answer to what convinced Nixon:

In 1965 there had been four major riots and civil disturbances in the country.  In 1966 there were twenty-one major riots and civil disorders.  In 1967 there were eighty-three major riots and civil disturbances.  In the first seven months of 1968 there were fifty seven major riots and disturbances . . . Mayors, governors – presidents – took it as given that things were in a hell of a shape and that something had to be done.18
Year by year enraged poor urban black males took with increasing frequency to the streets of their neighborhoods to attack the social order in the only way that seemed feasible to them – rioting.  And year by year angry poor urban black females marched to their welfare offices to demand benefits.  To those in charge, the unraveling of the social order seemed as imminent as it had during the growing unemployment of the Great Depression.  While Moynihan wanted to exploit the situation to the advantage of the poor, the paramount consideration for Nixon was to halt the escalating violence and to restore domestic tranquility.  Both Moynihan and Nixon reached into their OEO-HEW toolkit and found there a preliminary NIT plan which they took out and sought to adapt to their political purposes.

The Conflicting Conservative/Liberal Outlooks

The two outlooks on the welfare situation – conservative and liberal – were each a complex of ideas.  Not every conservative always adhered strictly to all of the conservative ideas in the conservative complex, and similarly for the liberals.  Nevertheless it is possible to roughly delineate the two complexes.  Economic general equilibrium theory (GET) held that competitive markets would make available price equilibria for all commodities including labor.  However, GET left open the question of whether the available wages in low wage labor markets would be high enough to sustain a social existence for those who labored in them.  At the center of the two idea complexes were different notions of the proper role of government in supplementing labor market results in order to sustain the social existence of workers


Conservatives tended to hold that markets would for the most part provide an acceptable level of wages.  Given that, the able-bodied had an obligation to work and produce for others in exchange for what they consumed.  Conservatives held that too much in the way of transfers would cost those not receiving them more than is fair and would discourage those receiving them from working.  Conservative also maintained that too much in the way of transfers would drive up the level of wages required from businesses to entice people to work and so unfairly deprive businesses of profits and raise consumer prices.


Conservatives tended to think that, since markets for the most part provided an acceptable level of wages, a minimum wage was a bad idea.  Like any form of price controls, a minimum wage would lead to inefficiency in allocation.  Conservatives also tended to judge non-market income re-distributional arrangements on the extent to which they were voluntary.  Private charity was best.  “Poverty” was not a concept to define and use to justify a level of government transfers.  What the electorate was willing to redistribute was the only reasonable criterion for justifying a government transfer program.  The Federal government should not compel a state government to engage in income redistribution. 

In contrast to conservatives, liberals tended to hold that low-wage labor markets would for the most part fail to provide an acceptable level of wages.  Government had an obligation to define a level required to sustain a social existence and act so as to assure all achieved that level.  The able-bodied had an obligation to work and produce for others in exchange for what they consumed.  However, parenting was a form of work that markets failed to reward and so government should reward it with transfers.   

Liberals did not all agree on a way to judge whether a proposed social program was an improvement over existing arrangements.  Employing utilitarianism, i.e., the greatest good for the greatest number, had been the dominant way to make such judgments since the turn of the 20th century.  However, in 1958 and 1968 the philosopher John Rawls had published pieces of a theory that sought to supplant utilitarianism as a way to make such judgments.  In 1971 he would publish A Theory of Justice, a full version of his theory, but by 1970 his concept of justice as fairness was already gaining ascendancy in liberal circles.

For each individual, a utilitarian somehow assigns the difference in utility between the new and the existing program and then adds up the differences. If the sum is positive the new program is an improvement.  In contrast, a proponent of Rawls’ theory first identifies a least advantaged group.  Only if the new program improves the situation of every member of the least advantaged group does the Rawls adherent judge it an improvement over the existing program.  

The poor are a plausible least advantaged group.  Clearly FAP would have improved the situation of millions of poor in the South where welfare benefits were well below $1,600 per year.  Hence liberals inclined toward utilitarianism might favor the bill even if it reduced the benefits of some of the Northern poor.  However, the Administration had crafted the bill to make it unlikely (but not certain) that none of the Northern poor would have their benefits reduced by it.  Thus even a liberal adherent to the theory of Rawls might favor the original Administration FAP over existing welfare arrangements.  

91ST CONGRESS BATTLE FOR FAP

Nixon outlined his FAP NIT proposal in a TV talk to the nation on August 8, 1969.  A family of four with no income would receive $1,600 from the federal government – the guaranteed minimum income.  The first $60 of earnings per month would not affect the amount received.  The negative tax rate would be 50% so that the federal payment would become zero at $3,920 of earnings.  

The same speech also embodied the intense conservative/liberal welfare conflict that Nixon faced.  He promised the TV audience that AFDC “would be done away with completely” at the same time as he promised them that “[i]n no case would anyone’s present level of benefits be lowered.”  A press briefing after the speech and a congressional welfare message three days later explained details of the second promise.  “[T]he states that paid AFDC benefits higher than those of FAP would be required to supplement FAP to maintain the higher payments for AFDC families.”19 Would the Administration hold to that position, though, as the bill fought its way through Congress?   


The Nixon Administration FAP planners crafted the non-NIT provisions of FAP to meet the conflicted political situation that they confronted. The bill required states to add payments above $1,600 up to the levels of their AFDC payments for all who qualified for AFDC by the criteria prevailing at the enactment date.  This provision would provide no more income than they already received in welfare to those in the centers of disorder in the urban North.  However, under existing arrangements states had no legal obligation to supply the level of funds that they did, or maintain existing eligibility criteria.  So this provision represented a legal codification of benefit gains and criteria relaxation that the welfare rights movement saw as the product of its efforts and would certainly gain favor with liberals. 


Also, “[o]ne of the least noticed features of Family Assistance was that it mandated the AFDC-U” in all states”20 – that is, a second caretaker would thenceforth qualify for benefits in all of the states.  This was an expansion from the twenty three states where the second caretaker qualified in 1969.  This provision, as well as the $1,600 basic federal payment would greatly expand transfer payments in the South and would also certainly gain favor with liberals.  

FAP also changed the structure of federal/state sharing of welfare benefit payouts.  Recall that previously states paid 2/3 and the federal government 1/3 of welfare benefits.  Under FAP the federal government would provide the basic payments up to $1,600.  In addition, the federal government would provide at least 50% of the funds for the supplements and/or enough to assure that a state would reduce its total welfare expenditures by at least 10% from what prevailed at the enactment date.  This provision would greatly ease the welfare fiscal crisis faced by the states.

To meet the complaint voiced by congressional conservatives that welfare paid an increasing number of people not to work, FAP included a “work requirement.”  Able-bodied adults would have to register for work and be willing to accept “suitable work” or the family would suffer a $300 (of $1,600) reduction in benefits.  However, the bill exempted mothers with children under school age and those with a man in the house who registered for work and was willing to accept “suitable work.” 

FAP also required the federal government to provide child care as a precondition for single mothers’ working.  Quadagno later argued that under FAP “numerous gaps in day care planning rendered it ineffective.  One problem was inadequate funding.”21 Burke and Burke, however, thought that “the scarcity of day care assured most mothers immunity against the work rule.” 22 Moynihan argued that the FAP “work requirement” was less coercive than the one in the Work Incentive Program (WIN) that had gone into effect on July 1, 1969 but was largely ignored in practice. 23 

Finally, Burke and Burke noted that the “suitable work” requirement contained a provision that might have indirectly lessened the benefits of some of the AFDC eligible.  The requirement “specified that the head of a family receiving FAP benefits could be required, under penalty of benefit reductions, to work at a job not covered by the minimum wage so long as it paid the prevailing wage for that type of work.” 24 AFDC benefits in some states of the urban North were right around the earnings from a fulltime minimum wage job.  So the AFDC eligible in those state, not somehow exempt from its “work requirement,” might suffer a loss of benefits under FAP.  This provision aimed to sooth conservatives who worried that FAP would provide sufficient benefits to undermine the below minimum wage labor markets that flourished in many areas.

If its “work requirement” promised to be ineffectual in practice, as Moynihan later maintained, then FAP involved a universal guaranteed income ($1,600) in the context of an NIT superimposed on the existing welfare system.  Since a guaranteed income was an unpopular idea, the Administration employed a strategy of dissembling and sales-pitch to advance FAP.  Its spokesmen denied that FAP was a guaranteed income and claimed that it would put the poor to work when its “work requirement” and the NIT disincentives to work made the claim dubious.  Administration spokesmen also argued that the bill would inhibit poor family breakups – a claim for which there was no evidence.  Moynihan later explained:  “The hope of the program’s advocates was that ‘conservatives’ would take the program at face value and ‘liberals’ would see the reality behind it.” 25 

FAP Goes to the 91st Congress House

In April of 1970 the Administration FAP proposal came before the Committee on Ways and Means of the U. S. House of Representatives.  The Administration strategy of dissembling and sales-pitch would eventually contribute to the creation of a climate of mistrust.  However, in the April 1970 House foray it helped to persuade conservative Chairman Wilbur Mills (D, Arkansas). Mills led his Committee in crafting a bill that differed little from the Administration plan and then led the House floor fight for that bill.  The bill passed 243 to 155 on April 16, 1970. 

Mills and ranking Republican leader of Ways and Means John W. Byrnes (Wisconsin) “declared that $1,600 was enough to ‘start’ and pledged . . . that if the other body were to raise this ceiling Ways and Means would not go to conference and there would be no bill.”26 That threat hung over the next thirty months of FAP conflict.  The April 16,1970 House floor vote was the last either congressional chamber or its committees took on a FAP version that had Nixon’s backing and embodied his promise not to reduce the direct income transfers of those eligible for AFDC.    

Conservatives reacted swiftly to House passage of FAP.  In his May 18,1970 Newsweek column Friedman criticized the bill that the House had passed.  He stressed that he had no quarrel with the basic NIT feature of the bill.  Yet he argued that the bill “gives most persons on relief even less incentive than they have under the existing system of welfare” to work.  He presented an example for a typical state: as earnings rise from $2,280 to $5,003 for a family of four the amount retained of each extra dollar earned falls from 65.2 cents to -4.1 cents.    

Friedman maintained that the main sources of the bill’s perverse work incentives were its retention of the food stamp program and the structure of the state supplements that the bill required.  He thought that an NIT “makes sense only if it replaces at least some of our present rag bag of programs” and favored abolition of the food stamp program.  He also called for a revision of the state supplement feature of the bill that would allow recipients to retain more earned income.  “To ease the problem for the states” that his supplement revision created, “they should be permitted to lower the maximum levels of assistance to which they are now committed.” 27 So the conservative Friedman both wanted people to retain more of what they earned than the bill provided for, and wanted states to guarantee a lower income than the bill mandated, if they so chose. 

91st Congress FAP Senate Finance Committee Hearings: First Round
In the Senate the House-passed bill went to the Finance Committee, whose Chairman was Russell Long (D, Louisiana).   Two days after the House passage of FAP Long said the following in an April 23, 1970 Senate Floor speech:

Senators should be aware that the welfare bill before the Finance Committee today does not solve the problem – it just makes it cost $4 more.  Under the bill, a fully employed father of a family of four with low earnings could increase his family’s total income if he quit work, or if he reduced his income.28

These criticisms echoed those of the conservative Friedman – the bill cost too much and had perverse work incentives.  They also reflected the overall conservative nature of the Finance Committee where the next FAP battle was waged.    

During the period of the FAP conflict the liberal group Americans for Democratic Action (ADA) recorded the percentage a member of Congress voted the position that the group favored on a set of measures that the group deemed important.  That percentage is the member’s “liberal quotient.”  For the 91st Congress the median ADA liberal quotient for the House was 28 and for the Senate was 44, so the Senate was definitely the more liberal body.  However, for the House Ways and Means Committee the median was 28 while for the Senate Finance Committee the median was 16.  So the Committee that was to work on the bill in the Senate was quite a bit more conservative than the already conservative Committee that passed it in the House.  That, and the warning of Mills and Byrnes, certainly boded poorly for getting any more benefits for the poor into the bill as the Finance Committee worked on it. 


Table 1 depicts the ADA liberal quotients for the 17 Senate Finance Committee members.29 There were perhaps six liberals, seven at a stretch, on the Committee.  For at least some of them the criterion of Rawls, i.e., the promise that Nixon had made not to lower the benefits of any AFDC recipient, would be decisive.  The House-passed bill then seemed the minimum that would conceivably satisfy all of the liberals.  Yet the polarized conservative/liberal composition of the Finance Committee made it extremely unlikely that the House-passed version could run its gauntlet and emerge with all of its provisions favorable to the poor intact.  Given the climate of conservative opposition to the House-passed bill along the lines of Friedman’s criticisms, the Administration would have to hold all of the Committee liberals to the House-passed bill at the same time as it somehow won over two or three conservatives.  This was likely an impossible task from the outset.


In 1970 the minimum wage was $1.60 per hour.  Hence anyone who worked a full 2000 hour year at minimum wage would have earned $3,200, a full $540 below the $3,740 1970 poverty line that liberals took as their definition of poverty.  The basic bare bones FAP NIT that Friedman advocated would have provided such a person with an additional payment of $360, leaving the person still $180 shy of the poverty line.  So as a device for alleviating poverty, as liberals defined it, that bare bones NIT was not very effective for a family headed by a single mom with only minimum wage work skills.

Fred Harris (D, Oklahoma) was a leading liberal on the Senate Finance Committee.  On February 10, 1970, even before the House considered FAP, Harris had introduced an NIT bill on the floor of the Senate that would have begun with a minimum

income of $2,520 and raised that over a three year period to the poverty line.  His bill also excluded any mom with a dependent child from even a work-training program.  Moreover, when he presented his bill Harris noted:

Thus, a basic attack on poverty must include higher minimum wages and broader coverage.  Moreover, we must assure – as this bill does – that hunger and deprivation of benefits will never be used to force an individual to take a job below the Federal minimum wage level or to undercut the standards of fellow
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workers by a requirement that he take a job less than their wage rates or one involved in a labor dispute.  The failure of the Nixon proposal to afford protection against such practices constitutes a most serious threat to the health of the economy.30
So Harris had clearly done his homework on the FAP proposal and his bill pointedly excluded the FAP provision that threatened benefit reductions for anyone who refused to take a below minimum wage job in certain situations.

Although $2,520 was less than some AFDC families then received in some Northern cities, $3,740 was more than any received.  So while the Friedman favored stand-alone FAP NIT would have left a minimum wage skilled mom who worked fulltime in liberal-defined poverty, after three years the Harris bill would have put her out of liberal-defined poverty with no work.  Further, the Harris bill would have spread its guaranteed minimum income to all of the poor nationally while the Administration FAP confined its higher level of support only to the states where it already existed.  

Moynihan estimated that the FAP NIT, without state supplements, would have cost $5 billion per year.  Harris estimated the state supplements at $5 billion more which could be put into his plan instead.  Moynihan put the Harris plan at $20 billion when it reached full coverage.  So another $10 billion per year was required.  Moynihan thought that “[t]his was in the range of political realism.”31 However, Harris had made his proposal before the House had considered the Administration bill.  So the warning of Mills and Byrnes that Ways and Means would not go to conference if the Senate fielded a bill with a guaranteed minimum of more than $1,600 probably explicitly referred to the Harris proposal.    


Harris was the first speaker at the Senate Finance Committee hearings on April 29, 1970.  Some of his opening remarks reiterated those that he first uttered when he presented his own bill.  The FAP minimum was too low and, agreeing with Friedman, people should be allowed to retain more of their earnings than the FAP NIT with state supplements allowed.  Also, no one should be coerced into taking a job that paid below minimum wage and the Administration should expand job opportunities.  Further:

[The bill] should be amended so that mothers of school age children are able to exercise their own judgment as to whether they are able to carry the double burden of both managing a home and holding a job.  It is unfair to permit the mother whose husband is still in the home this option, as the Nixon plan would do, but deny it to a mother who is already carrying the double burden of rearing children unaided by a father in the home.32
Despite these criticisms, Harris was “pleased that the House of Representatives has passed . . . the Family Assistance Act of 1970.”33 He hoped to prod the Committee, full Senate, and Administration to move the House-passed FAP version closer to his own bill.  He was there to deal.  Later in the first round of hearings he called for more jobs, training slots, and day care funds for welfare recipients.

 
However, Long and ranking Republican (Delaware) John Williams presided over the hearings.  The Administration had anticipated that Finance Committee conservatives would attack the FAP NIT as an addition to existing AFDC arrangements.  Instead the conservatives, led by Williams and bolstered by materials prepared by the Committee staff, extended the line of criticism that Friedman had initiated in his column by adding other programs to the Friedman list of those left intact.  With example after example they pounded away at how FAP’s leaving intact existing programs – e.g., the state supplements, Medicaid, and public housing – created work disincentives.34
However, a string of mostly conservative Senators also worried about the cost of the bill.  In his opening statement, Senator Long stressed that “[t]his bill represents the most extensive, expensive, and expansive welfare legislation ever handled by the Committee on Finance.”35 In questioning HEW Secretary Finch, Senators Long, Williams, and Jordan wondered if HEW had underestimated the cost of the bill by assuming an unemployment rate that was unrealistically low.  

Jordan also asked Finch if he “would continue to be enthusiastic over implementing this program at an estimated annual cost of $5 billion or more, if it had to be done on borrowed money?”36 Before FAP, each state supplied 2/3 of its welfare budget.  Senator Anderson referred to “the tightness of the Federal budget” and asked Finch:  “Is it not true under the Federal Government that higher amounts are needed for a family assistance?  Do you have to have some more funds for a family assistance program.”37  


 In his opening round of questions of HEW under-secretary Veneman, Talmadge referred to cost estimates that HEW was working on and stressed that “I think you are going to be greatly surprised at your cost estimates.”38 Byrd wondered if: “It wouldn’t be illogical to assume that if it were established at $1,600, each year there would be an effort made to increase that amount?”39 Miller asked Finch about what it was reasonable to see as the cost of the program: “by 1976, instead of seeing that up to $4.9 billion, we see that clear up to $6 billion, or $7 billion, or $8 billion.”40 Taking the preliminary Finch cost estimate of $4.4 billion for the first year, Talmadge pleaded: “Where are we going to get the money?”41

Conservatives felt that by and large labor market adequately compensated those who worked with wages.  One of their chief concerns was that FAP would extensively undermine the wage structure of low wage labor markets.  Hansen and Fannin both turned their line of questions for Finch to the issue of jobs.  They stressed that employers were already moving certain low wage jobs to Mexico because there were no American workers willing to take them, seeming to suggest that the benefits made available by FAP would exacerbate that problem. 


What most puzzled the conservatives was the entirety of FAP as a proposed solution to the welfare crisis.  To them, the crisis largely consisted of the recent expansion of the welfare rolls.  FAP, to them, merely expanded the rolls further.  Talmadge, for example, got Finch to agree that there were then 10 million people on welfare.  He then noted: “And the program that you are recommending will add an additional 14 million, which will make it something on the order of 24 to 5 million people out of 200 million who will be on welfare, or about 12 ½ percent.”42 Finch conceded the point.     

91st Congress FAP Senate Finance Committee Hearings: Second Round
Administration bill managers came away from the first round of Senate Finance Committee hearings in a political vice.  They had crafted a bill to fit between two opposing political forces and found themselves attacked from both their political directions.  Conceivably they could have made an offer to Harris (and the Finance Committee liberals) that squeezed between what he wanted as a guaranteed minimum and the sword of Damocles put over the bill by Mills and Byrnes in the House.  Mills and Byrnes had said that a $1,600 minimum was enough to “start.”  So perhaps an offer of a start at $1,600 that moved up to the poverty line in increments over five years would have satisfied Harris, Mills, and Byrnes – at least on the issue of the guaranteed minimum.  However, it was less clear that such a strategy would have satisfied other objections of Harris and the Finance Committee liberals to the House-passed FAP.

Most immediate and importantly, a strategy of conciliation with the Senate Finance Committee liberals did not make it likely that the bill would get past the Senate Finance Committee.  Burke and Burke thought that “[t]he committee’s 7 Republicans were all conservatives.”43 Moynihan thought that “by July 1970 there was simply no prospect of any but the faintest support for Family Assistance from the Republican members of the Senate Finance Committee.”44 Byrd and Talmadge of the committee’s Democrats had also adamantly opposed the House-passed bill in the first round of hearings.  So a move toward Harris and the liberals seemed at best likely to result in a 9 to 8 committee vote against the bill.


So on June 10, 1970 the Administration ignored the criticisms of the bill by Harris and announced FAP revisions that sought to placate Senate Finance Committee conservatives.  The revisions increased, from $300 to $500, the “work requirement” penalty.  They smoothed out work disincentives from Medicaid and public housing with adjustments, i.e., benefit reductions, in those programs.  To smooth out work disincentives from AFDC they abolished the AFDC-U program which included 5% of AFDC recipients, and reduced state supplements for a further 15% of AFDC families.  Thus some 20% of the AFDC recipient group became worse off in income transfer terms under the June 10 revised FAP than under existing arrangements.  The June 10 revised FAP broke Nixon’s promise that “[i]n no case would anyone’s present level of benefits be lowered.”


Of all those involved in the FAP Senate campaign, Russell Long played the most enigmatic role.  Long was the eldest son of Huey Long, the famous populist Senator from Louisiana who was assassinated in 1935.  Long saw himself as a populist like his father, but conceded that his conception of populism differed from that of his father.  About his father he once remarked:  “He wanted to tax it away from those who had it.  I wouldn’t keep anybody rich from getting richer.”45 Long had an ADA liberal quotient of 19 and was a steady opponent of taxes on business.  He was renowned in the Senate for his knowledge of the tax code and his Senate debate skills but also for his “sheer cleverness and cunning.”46 During a 1967 sit-in by NWRO at the Senate Finance Committee Long had become anathema to that group and the welfare and civil rights movements more generally when some of the moms maintained that he had referred to them as “black brood mares.”  


When the Committee resumed hearings on July 21, 1970 Long presided.  He had previously expressed concern for the work disincentives of the bill but his opening statement failed to mention the strengthened “work requirement.”  He stressed instead that “in significant respects, the new plan is a worse bill and a more costly bill than the measure which passed the House.”  He cited “important areas of deterioration:” abolition of AFDC-U and reduction of state supplemental benefits. 47 Yet the Administration changes of June 10, 1970, by eliminating AFDC-U, reducing state supplements, and reducing Medicaid and public housing benefits, had actually reduced the net cost of FAP over the House-passed version of the bill.

The Administration had changed the bill to meet the complaints of the conservative Williams and Talmadge, and now Long in turn complained about the changes.  Did he mean that he wanted AFDC-U and state supplemental benefits restored to the bill, and so was siding with what would be the liberal position on these changes?  Was he incoherent?  Were he and Williams-Talmadge, in effect, working a good cop routine on liberals and the Administration? Would Long’s new complaints make it even more impossible for the Administration to satisfy the Committee, politically disorient the liberals into favoring the new version of the bill, and hence help to defeat the bill?    



Harris spoke after Long and first reiterated his previous complaints about the bill.  Then he said: “I am deeply disturbed, Mr. Chairman, by the change in this bill, the regressive change in this bill.”  However, he still hoped that the bill could be improved in committee.  If not, he promised that “I intend at the appropriate time to move that the bill in one form or another be reported out by this committee as a part of the social security bill, so that the Senate itself will have an opportunity to consider welfare reform and all suggestions for improving it.”48  So as of July 21, 1970 Harris still promised to vote to send some version of FAP to the Senate floor – if necessary, even the June 10, 1970 version that “deeply disturbed” him.

 
Harris’s thinking on the new version of the bill became clear when he questioned the Administration witness HEW Secretary Richardson.  He asked the secretary:

Outside of the 10 percent of the families who are receiving assistance that live in the seven lowest AFDC benefit States – I think primarily if not totally the Southern States – and persons with other sources of income, will any family with children and now receiving assistance be financially better off under this bill than is true at the present time?

Richardson said no.  Harris then asked: “Now, let me ask you the converse of that.  Will any such family be worse off under the family assistance program than is presently true?”49 Richardson answered that twenty percent of AFDC families would be worse off, and suggested the possibility of grand-fathering benefits for those recipients for a certain time period.


So the new version of FAP posed a dilemma for liberals.  It improved the situation of 10% of the poor receiving AFDC benefits and the working poor, and failed to change the situation of 70% of the poor receiving AFDC benefits.  This was certainly the bulk of the poor.  However, the new version of FAP also made 20% of those receiving AFDC benefits worse off.  A liberal using a utilitarian criterion might well judge the new version of FAP an improvement over existing arrangements.  Yet a liberal adherent of Rawls would have to judge the new version of FAP no improvement because it made some of the poor worse off.  The new version of FAP was therefore likely to split the liberal vote. 


One further important point came out in the exchange between Harris and Richardson.  The rationale for the AFDC-U program was that without it there was an incentive for families with an unemployed father to breakup so that the woman could receive AFDC benefits.  The abolition of AFDC-U introduced this breakup incentive which worried Harris.  Richardson pointed to the disincentive to work that AFDC-U along with the FAP NIT provided.  A family whose father did not work and received the AFDC-U benefits along with FAP benefits might well have a greater income than a family of a low-wage worker whose father chose to work.  Harris responded that the solution to this difficulty was to raise the FAP minimum guaranteed income level, along the lines of his proposed plan, rather than to abolish AFDC-U as the Administration had chosen to do.


On October 8, 1970, the Senate Finance Committee voted 14 to 1 against sending the original FAP proposal that it had received from the House forward to the Senate floor.  Keeping his promise of July 21, 1970, Harris cast the one vote for forwarding the House-passed FAP to the Senate floor.  The House-passed FAP had several deficiencies for Harris when compared with his own bill.  Nevertheless, in income transfer terms it did make none of the poor worse off and some of them better off.  This was sufficient to garner the support of Harris.  If he could get such a proposal to the Senate floor he could try to improve upon it there.  Long, who had argued that the Administration changes to the House-passed bill made it worse, voted not to forward the House-passed FAP to the Senate floor on October 8.


In response to the July and August 1970 Senate Finance Committee FAP hearings, the Administration revised its June 10, 1970 revisions on October 13, 1970.  The new FAP version took up some suggestions made by Committee members in the hearings.  The new version of FAP grandfathered for a two year period the benefits for the 20% of AFDC recipients who would lose transfers under FAP.  This was the only new provision aimed to please liberals and delaying for two years an end to benefits for a portion of the poor was not likely to gain much new liberal support for the bill.


To placate conservatives the liberal Senator Ribicoff (D, Connecticutt) had suggested “a series of preliminary administrative pretests or trials.”50 The Administration took up this suggestion in its revisions.  The FAP AFDC component would go into effect January 1, 1972.  From January 1, 1971 to July 1, 1972 the FAP NIT would be tested and the results reported to Congress by March 1972.  This would give Congress the opportunity between March and July of 1972 to review and possibly repeal the NIT.  

The new version of FAP also included three “Measures to Strengthen the Work Requirement.” 51 Those who refused to work would receive a ¼ reduction in state supplements.  Those deemed most employable would receive priority in the training programs (this was a suggestion of Senator Talmadge).  The bill returned to the original “suitable work” definition of the House Ways and Means Committee.

The NWRO Senate FAP Hearings

Until the summer of 1970, NWRO did not oppose FAP.  Like Harris, NWRO was glad to see a bill that made none of the poor worse off pass a House that was more conservative than the Senate.  However, NWRO did push for an increase in the $1,600 income floor and a weakening of the “work requirement,” hoping to get these changes into the bill on the Senate floor.  When on June 10, 1970 the Administration agreed to benefit reductions for 20% of Northern AFDC recipients – the political base of its movement – NWRO mounted opposition to FAP.  This new NWRO opposition to FAP was not mollified by the grand-fathering provision of the October 13, 1970 revision of the revisions.


During this period Senator McCarthy was on the Senate Finance Committee.  However, he continued the political role he had played, during the 1968 primary insurgency against Johnson, of conduit to political legitimacy of ideas and movements emerging outside of the two political parties.  NWRO opposition to FAP culminated in unofficial hearings, on November 18 and 19, 1970, on the bill in the Senate’s New Office Building.  McCarthy organized and presided over the hearings at NWRO request.


At those hearings welfare mothers passionately denounced FAP.52 No source indicates that Harris attended the NWRO hearings.  However, Long “made a surprise appearance” at McCarthy’s hearings “to warn that ‘the Nixon welfare reform was in bad shape the way it was now’.”  “The Senate Finance Committee Chairman later told reporters that the plan ‘leaves a lot to be desired.’ He said he personally felt it should not go into effect until it had been tested.”53

On November 19, 1970 the New York Times reported on an interview with Harris.  “I had hoped we could improve on the Administration bill,” Senator Harris said in an interview, “but I am despairing more and more that it can be done.  Every Administration change has made the bill worse.  If its bad features can’t be eliminated, I think it ought to be killed, and we should start all over.”54 To send the twice-revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor ran the political danger that liberals there might be unable to alter the bad features of that bill. 


In the crucial November 20, 1970 10 to 6 Senate Finance Committee vote against sending the twice-revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor, Harris and several other liberals voted with the majority.  “George Wylie [sic], executive director of the National Welfare Rights Organization, said he was ‘very pleased by the committee vote and credited protest hearings by his group earlier this week with inducing some of the opposition by liberals Democrats.”55 Whether the McCarthy-NWRO hearings influenced Harris and other liberals to oppose sending the twice-revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor became a pointed of heated contention among commentators writing in the wake of the vote.


There are basically four sources on the subject of NWRO influence on the November 20, 1970 Committee vote - Bailis, Burke and Burke, Moynihan, and Piven and Cloward.  However, two of them must be used with great caution.  Moynihan was a frequent critic of NWRO as a purveyor of the kind of tactics he deplored in Maximum Feasible Misunderstanding, and might therefore incline to overestimate the influence of NWRO on the November 20, 1970 vote.  Piven and Cloward were sympathetic chroniclers of the welfare rights movement story but critics of NWRO’s lobbying attempts, favoring its grass roots mobilization efforts instead.  They might therefore incline to underestimate the influence of NWRO on the November 20, 1970 vote.


None of the four sources placed any of the liberals who voted against sending the twice-revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor, with the exception of McCarthy of course, at the McCarthy-NWRO hearings.  The Finance Committee vote happened the day after the McCarthy-NWRO hearings ended, not giving NWRO much time to lobby other liberals than McCarthy.  

Moynihan maintained that NWRO influenced Harris who influenced the vote of Anderson and cast proxies for Gore and McCarthy.56 Hence counting indirect influence, Moynihan attributes the vote of four Senators to NWRO lobbying.  None of the other three sources confirms that Harris cast proxies for Gore and McCarthy.  Nor do any of the other three confirm that Harris influenced Anderson.  Evidently, attributing four votes to the influence of NWRO overestimates that influence.

Bailis reported that “[w]elfare rights staff members have claimed that they were a major factor in convincing three liberal Democrats on the Senate Finance Committee to vote against the Family Assistance Plan in 1970.”57 Apparently the three were Harris, McCarthy, and Gore.  So the NWRO lobbyists themselves claimed only three votes.  Since, if anything, lobbyists themselves might overestimate their influence attributing three votes to the influence of NWRO might also overestimate that influence. 

Piven and Cloward allowed that Harris and McCarthy were both sympathetic to NWRO and might have been influenced by the group to vote against sending the twice-revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor.  However they denied that Gore was influenced by NWRO, claiming instead that he voted against sending the bill forward out of bitterness at his defeat by a Nixon-led effort in the November 1970 election.   Their reason for not counting Gore as an NWRO catch seems plausible.  If they are correct, as they point out, the vote against sending the twice revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor would have been 8-8. By the Committee rules a bill does not move forward on a tie.58

Perhaps Piven and Cloward were wrong about NWRO’s not influencing Gore.  Nevethless, the claim that liberal Democrats voting under NWRO influence were decisive in not sending the twice-revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor on November 20, 1970 may be mistaken for another reason.  The sources all ignore the fact that Long voted to send the bill forward.  He might have done so because the second set of changes won him over from his opposition to the once-revised House-passed FAP.  He publicly indicated the evening before the vote that the reform should not go into effect until it had been tested, and the twice-revised House-passed FAP merely gave the NIT part of the plan a 15 month test run.  However, it is also true that as the Chairman voting last he knew that the bill was not going to the Senate floor when he voted.  So he might have voted to send the bill to the Senate floor only to curry favor with the Administration. 

Yet a final reason suggests that NWRO influence on liberal Democrats may not have been decisive in not sending the twice-revised House-passed FAP to the Senate floor on November 20, 1970.  To attribute the vote of Harris to NWRO lobbying in the two days before the vote demeans him.  As early as April 29, 1970 he had said that he was unhappy with the House-passed version of the bill because of its low guaranteed minimum income, its work requirement, and its subversion of the minimum wage law.

In his July 20, 1970 questions of Finch he again made clear these reservations but also his concern that the changes the Administration had made 20% of AFDC recipients worse off in income terms.  The offer to grandfather the recipients for two years could hardly have satisfied him.


Throughout the Senate Finance Committee hearings Harris consistently fought for an equitable bill that was more generous to the poor.  He engaged Administration witnesses in an open search for one that made none of the poor worse off.  When the Administration changed a bill that made none of the poor worse off to one that made some of them worse off, citing its own worries, Harris took those worries seriously.  To vote against improving the lot of some of the poor, to preserve the lot of another portion of them, was undoubtedly a painful and agonizing choice for Harris.


Subsequent narrators pay no attention to the reasons that Harris himself gave for abandoning his July 21, 1970 position and voting against bringing the November 20, 1970 version to the Senate floor.  In particular, they ignore his citation of changes that the Administration made in the bill to try to garner conservative votes.  These changes could not have pleased NWRO either.  So did NWRO influence Harris to vote against the bill or did the changes in the bill made by the Administration influence both Harris and NWRO to oppose the FAP version on which the Senate Finance Committee voted on November 20, 1970.  The historical record offers no definitive answer to the question.  However, to suppose that Harris would not have voted as he did in the absence of possible NWRO lobbying is to suppose that he did not have the capacity for independent thought on the issue that he frequently displayed in the Senate Finance Committee hearings. 

Autopsy for the 91st Congress FAP 

If not NWRO, what was the source of the death of FAP in the November 20, 1970 Senate Finance Committee vote?  In the April 16, 1970 House floor vote, liberals tended to favor FAP and conservatives tended to oppose it.  Counting Anderson as liberal (which is a stretch), what stands out in Table 2 is that in the November 20, 1970 Senate Finance Committee vote both camps – liberals and conservatives – split with more of each opposing FAP.  


The explanation for the different outcomes in the two votes rests largely on the different versions of FAP voted on.  In contrast to the Senate Finance Committee version, the House version of FAP left none of the poor worse off in income terms and had a weaker work requirement.  Hence it was more palatable to liberals than was the Senate Finance Committee version.  Given the highly polarized political climate, by making their original proposal more palatable to conservatives the Administration managed to increase conservative support but also to lose some liberal support.

THE 92ND CONGRESS STALL AND STALEMATE

A second battle for FAP raged in the 92nd Congress, though Nixon remained largely aloof from it.  A further modified bill containing a version of FAP with an NIT again passed the House Committee on Ways and Means 22 to 3 on May 17, 1971. On June 22, 1971 and then passed that bill 288 to 132.  When the House-passed bill reached the Senate
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Finance Committee, Long led the crafting of a substitute bill which won a 10 to 4 vote against the House-passed bill.  Then, on October 28, 1971 Ribicoff , a Senate Finance Committee FAP supporter, introduced a version of FAP with an NIT directly onto the Senate floor.  Nearly a year later, on October 3, 1972, a modified version of Ribicoff’s bill lost a 52 to 34 vote.  The next day another version of FAP with an NIT introduced by Stevenson (D, Illinois) lost a 51 to 35 Senate floor vote.  

Comparison of the Three 92nd Congress Bills

At the time the 92nd Congress began, those with no income were entitled to $720 in food stamps with no charge, and those with incomes up to $4,000 could get $1,200 worth of food stamps for 30% of their income.  The 92nd House FAP began with the 91st House FAP $720 earned income disregard and $1,600 income floor, but then “cashed out” food stamps, i.e., eliminated the program and raised the NIT floor to $2,400 to offset the food stamp loss.  So the break even income level became $4,140.  From these provisions alone it was hard to distinguish the 91st and 92nd House-passed FAPs.


However, in contrast to the 91st House FAP the 92nd House FAP did not require states to make no AFDC recipient no worse off in terms of benefits.  Instead, the federal government guaranteed that any state that did so would never in the future be billed in any year more than it spent in cash benefits in 1971.  “Thus, there would be strong incentive for Connecticut and the other twenty-seven states whose AFDC guarantees then exceeded the FAP floor of $2,400 for a family of four to supplement FAP up to the existing guarantee level, plus cash value of food stamps.”59 Also, the bill would thus limit any future fiscal strain on the states.


Departing from the 91st Congress House-passed FAP, the 92nd Congress House-passed FAP partitioned families who would receive benefits into those with and without a head deemed “employable”.  The Labor Department would administer employable head cases.  Employed heads would receive “wage supplements” by the NIT formula and $800 million would provide 200,000 public service jobs for “employable” unemployed heads.  Finally, beginning in 1974 mothers with children age 3 to 6 would become subject to the “work requirement” from which the earlier bill had exempted them.


The Senate Finance Committee “Guaranteed Job Opportunity Program” (GJOP) bill replaced the Labor Department component of the 92nd House FAP.  Under GJOP, any able-bodied male or female family head with no child under six would have to participate in a Federal employment program to receive any benefits.  The Federal government would provide a $1.20 an hour public sector job to any participant who could find no private sector job.  Program participants would not receive food stamps.  States could provide what income transfers they wanted, but only to those who had not refused to participate in the Federal employment program.  


GJOP also included a wage supplement plan for private sector workers in the Federal employment program.  For those receiving a wage w, with $1.20 ≤ w < $1.60 per hour (the Federal minimum wage), from an employer, the Federal Government would supply a wage supplement of .75 x ($1.60 – w) per hour.  That would keep the supplemented wage below the Federal minimum.  Further, “[f]amily heads employed in jobs covered by social security or railroad retirement programs would receive a work bonus of $400.  As income continues to rise, this work bonus would be reduced until in vanished at a wage income level of $5,600.”60 So GJOP provided some income transfers to some private sector workers with incomes up to $5,600.


Finally, Ribicoff and a group of 18 other Senators proposed a FAP version that retained the $720 earned income disregard of the 92nd House FAP.  Their bill raised the income floor $2,400 to $3,000 immediately and gradually to the poverty line by 1976.  Its NIT provided income transfers for those with incomes up to $5,720.  Also, unlike the other two bills Ribicoff’s included single people and childless couples as beneficiaries.  Finally, it required states to supplement the federal NIT payments up to then current benefit levels – including the value of food stamps.  The Federal government would finance 30% of these costs during the first year and gradually take over all of these costs by 1976.


Of the three 92nd Congress bills, Ribicoff’s was the most liberal.  Behind it was the vision that the problem with welfare was its inadequate level of transfers to eradicate poverty.  It made none of the poor worse off in income transfer terms and, in the spirit of Harris, brought transfers alone (not counting food stamps) up to the poverty line over a five year period.  So it was the most generous of the three bills in terms of transfers and it also had the least restrictive work requirement of the three.  Under the Ribicoff bill, a single mother with three children who worked a fulltime minimum wage job would have a 1972 income of $4,960 - $760 above the 1972 poverty line figure of $4,200. 

In the middle was the House-passed bill.  Its level of transfers was about the same as that of the 91st Congress House passed bill and lower than that of the Ribicoff bill.  Gone was the threat from the 91st Congress House passed FAP to force beneficiaries into jobs that paid below minimum wage.  However, gone too was the guarantee from the 91st Congress House passed bill that none of the poor would be made worse off in income transfer terms.  Also, its work requirement was more restrictive than both the Ribicoff bill and that of the 91st Congress House passed bill. Under the House-passed bill, a single mother with three children who worked a fulltime minimum wage job would have a 1972 income of $4,360 - $160 above the 1972 poverty line figure of $4,200.

GJOP was the most conservative of the three 92nd Congress bills.  Behind it was the vision that the problem with welfare was its unconditional supply of funding to those unwilling to work for a living.  Its authors stressed that under GJOP “40 percent of the almost three million families now receiving Aid to Families with Dependent Children would no longer be eligible for welfare.”  They also noted that the bill would “prevent the State welfare program from undermining the [employment] objectives of the Federal employment program.”61 The bill had the most restrictive work requirement of the three, more restrictive than the 91st House-passed or even Senate Finance Committee-favored FAP. Under GJOP, a single mother with three children who worked a fulltime job in its Federal employment program would have a 1972 income of $2,400 - $1,800 below the 1972 poverty line figure of $4,200.

Conceivably the GJOP Federal jobs program was intended more as an incentive for its potential beneficiaries to take private sector jobs than as something that they would actually take up.  Nevertheless, what is striking is that neither GJOP nor the House-passed bill gave much transfer help to those with minimal job skills who chose to attempt to work their way out of poverty.  Under GJOP or under existing arrangements a single mom with three children who worked a fulltime minimum wage would end up with an income of $3,920 - $280 below the poverty line.  Under the House-passed FAP the same mom would end up with $4,360 – only $160 above poverty and only $440 or 11% more than under existing arrangements.  Only under the Ribicoff bill would transfers provide a serious boost over wages to getting such a mom above the poverty line. 

The Course of the 92nd Congress FAP Battle

After the June 22, 1971 House passage of the new FAP, the Senate Finance Committee did not move the bill forward for 10 months.  The Committee held hearings on it from July 27 to August 3, 1971.  Ribicoff and 18 co-sponsors introduced their more generous alternative in the Senate on October 3, 1971.  Meanwhile many states reduced welfare grants and California and New York began programs that required some welfare recipients to work for their benefits.  Thus even as Senate liberals moved to expand income transfers to the poor, states with large numbers on the welfare rolls moved to condition benefits on work or limit benefits.   


   On December 14, 1971 the Senate unanimously enacted a “a new law requiring every welfare mother, upon penalty of loss of benefits, to register for work when her children reached school age.”62 This “Talmadge amendment” also required each state, under penalty of a loss of some federal welfare funds, to refer at least 15% of its adult welfare recipients to a federal job training and placement program.  “When he signed the bill on December 28, 1971, President Nixon praised it ‘workfare’ provisions as reflecting the ‘national interest,’ but said that when Congress returned in January it should complete the work of reform by passing H.R. 1 [FAP].” 63


Then Senate Finance Committee held another round of hearings on the House-passed FAP from January 20, to February 9, 1972.  Then rather than take action on that bill, it began to craft its own welfare reform bill (GJOP) under Long’s leadership.  “In early April a revenue-sharing bill promising $5.3 billion the first year passed the House and was on its way to certain bipartisan Senate passage.  This action robbed FAP of its solitary major political attraction,” 64 i.e., its role as solver of the fiscal crisis of the states.


Table 3 depicts the Finance Committee vote outcome and the ADA Liberal Quotient for each Committee member.  If one ranks by liberal quotient those who voted, then the four most liberal Committee members voted for the House-passed FAP and the rest voted for GJOP.  Even Harris, who did not really favor the House-passed FAP, voted for it when the alternative was the still more conservative GJOP.  Comparison with Table 2 shows that the 92nd Congress Senate Finance Committee FAP vrs. GJOP vote hardened into a liberal-conservative confrontation from the more slit up political tendency pattern in the 91st Congress Senate Finance Committee FAP vote.


In early June 1972 HEW, the Labor Department, and the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) sent the White House an analysis of three welfare reform options: stick with the House-passed FAP, compromise with Long, or compromise with Ribicoff.  Neither Bowler (1974) nor Burke and Burke (1974), the two main sources for the period, indicates that Nixon or his social policy advisors seriously considered a compromise with Long.  The joint memo concluded that only 20 votes could be had in the Senate for the House-passed FAP and that compromise with Ribicoff was “the only possible strategy

which can get us a bill, and it would attract a majority of Republicans.”65 On June 15, 1972 Percy (R, Illinois) sent Nixon a letter signed by nineteen Republican Senators urging, and the next day the HEW and Labor Secretaries pleaded for, a compromise with Ribicoff. 

Ribicoff proposed the terms of a compromise with the Administration that involved seven elements, “two [of which] were major: mandatory state supplementation

Table 3. 

April 28, 1972 Senate Finance Committee Vote Outcome And Members’ ADA Liberal Quotients

For House-Passed Family
For Guaranteed Job

Not Voting

Assistance Plan 

Opportunity Plan

Harris (D, Oklahoma)
      63
Anderson (D, N. Mexico) 48
Fulbright (D, Arkansas) 85

Hartke (D, Indiana)
      81
Bennett (R, Utah)
      0
Griffin (D, Michigan) 33

Nelson (D, Wisconsin)     96
Byrd (D, Virginia)            15

Ribicoff (D, Connecticut) 93
Curtis (R, Nebraska)         4







Fannin (R, Arizona)
      0





Hansen (R, Wyoming)      4





Jordan (R, Idaho)              15                              





Long (D, Louisiana)         19





Miller (R, Iowa)                11





Talmadge (D, Georgia)     22

Note: ADA liberal quotient is the percentage a member voted the position favored by Americans for Democratic Action on a set of measures deemed important by that liberal organization.

________________________
of the federal floor, including value of the food stamp bonus; and a $2,600 benefit level, plus cost-of-living rises in the future.”66  So Ribicoff asked Nixon to return to his promise to leave none of the poor worse off than they were under existing arrangements inc income transfer terms (embodied in the April 197 House-passed FAP), and to raise the income floor $200 (from the $2,400 figure of the June 1971 House-passed FAP).  In turn, Ribicoff would lower the income floor to $2,600 from the $3,000 figure of his bill, and drop gradual movement of the income floor to the poverty line.


Though Nixon evidently never considered a compromise with Long, Ribicoff apparently did.  His legislative assistant said that “Ribicoff asked me to identify all the points on which we agreed with Long.”67 He also said that “[i]t is amazing how close some essential parts of the Long ‘workfare’ proposal were to our bill . . . For example, our definition of employability was the same.”68 He fails to identify the principle differences between the two proposals that would have required compromise: Ribicoff’s provisions that none of the poor would be worse off in transfer terms and fulltime work would earn at least the federal minimum wage, and Long’s conditioning of all transfers on work.  Neither Bowler 1974 nor Burke and Burke indicates that Long wanted to compromise with Ribicoff.69

On June 22, 1972 Nixon announced that he would compromise with neither Long nor Ribicoff but would stand pat with the June 1971 House-passed FAP.  On September 26, 1972 the Finance Committee reported its GJOP version of welfare reform to the Senate.  On October 3, 1972, in a 52 to 34 vote, the Senate rejected an amendment substituting Ribicoff’s compromise proposal for GJOP.  “In making a motion to kill Ribicoff’s amendment by tabling it, Senator Long said the concept of Family Assistance mad him ‘tremble in fear for the fate of this Republic.’” 70


On October 4, 1972 Stevenson (D, Illinois) introduced an amendment to the GJOP welfare reform.  His amendment sent GJOP back to the Senate Finance Committee with instructions to accept the Ribicoff proposed compromise with the Administration bill, with two modifications.  First, the benefit level would go back down to $2,400 from $2,600.  Second, the childcare allocation would go down from $1.5 billion to $800 million to keep the budgetary impact about the same as in the House-passed FAP.  So the Stevenson proposal was close to a version of the original 1970 House-passed FAP with food stamps cashed out.  He restored Nixon’s original promise of a federal guarantee of the state supplements to leave none of the poor worse off in income terms.  The vote against the Stevenson amendment was 51 to 35.  GJOP itself never came to a vote on the Senate floor.  On October 15, 1972 the Senate-House conference committee deleted the House-passed FAP from the Social Security Amendments of 1972.  FAP was dead again. 

Autopsy for Nixon’s FAP

Later commentators offered many explanations for FAP’s demise.  Liberals killed it. Conservatives killed it.  Southerners killed it.  The distrust of Nixon engendered by his Vietnam policy killed it.  Egalitarians insisting on greater income redistribution killed it.  However, of these explanations, a careful statistical analysis finds that the ADA liberal quotient best explains the results of the five floor votes that occurred on versions of FAP in the 91st and 92nd Congresses.  Liberals tended to favor the versions of FAP voted on while conservatives tended to oppose them.71  


Mead concurs that the battle for FAP was largely a liberal/conservative conflict.  However, he argues:

A fresh reading of the hearings and debates surrounding reform suggests that in fact the critical issue was work, not welfare.  Congressmen divided, in the main, not over the preferred cost or extent of welfare, but over whether employable recipients should face serious pressures to work in return for support.  Only a small minority on the right opposed welfare, or even its extension, as such.  The real battle was over what kind of work requirements should be attached to the new benefits that most members wanted.  Reform died, in essence, because conservatives and moderates demanded more onerous requirements than liberals would accept.72
Using quoted statements of six Senators from the hearings – Bennett, Curtis, Fannin, Hansen, Long, and Talmadge – Mead makes the case that it was a strong work requirement that concerned them.


For the period 1970-1972 the claim is certainly partly true.  Conservatives did want more onerous work requirements than did liberals.  However, the Mead reading of the hearings is selective, as the reading of the hearings earlier in this paper shows.  Conservatives were also concerned about the cost of the bill.  Of those he cites wanting a more onerous work requirement, almost all also made statements of concern about the cost of the bill in the hearings.

More importantly, the details of GJOP and the two versions of FAP considered in the 92nd Congress suggest that conservatives did not want the same benefits as liberals – they wanted lower benefits.  Conservatives were concerned about work incentives and to them that meant that benefits had to be kept low to force the poor into low wage labor markets.  The problem might have conceivably been resolved by an offer of more generous benefits in exchange for work (including a level of benefits that made none of the poor worse off in transfer terms) but conservatives never made such an offer.


To summarize the situation, in April 1970 a version of FAP supported by the Nixon Administration passed the House but failed to get by the conservative Senate Finance Committee in that session.  In the next session a very similar version of FAP (the Stevenson amendment) failed to gain Administration support and failed to pass the Senate.  Bowler argues that “[t]he Family Assistance Plan was not approved by the Senate in 1972 in large part because Nixon did not want the program . . . or a compromise with liberals.”73 Why not?  

In his diary, Haldeman, a close aide of Nixon, echoes the analysis of Bowler:

“About Family Assistance Plan, [President] wants to be sure it’s killed by Democrats and that we make a big play for it, but don’t let it pass, can’t afford it.”74 This suggests that the whole Nixon strategy was Machiavellian.  It sought to get itself identified as favoring redistribution to the poor and the Democrats as opposing it while the opposite in fact was the case.  Senator Long probably echoed the Administration strategy during the 1970 Senate Finance Committee FAP battle.  However, the “can’t afford it” doesn’t account for why the Administration had agreed to pay the cost of federalizing state supplements in 1969 but refused to do so when confronted with an almost identical proposal to the one it had backed in 1969 in the form of the Stevenson Amendment in 1972. Something must have changed between 1969 and 1972 to change the Administration position?


Again, writing in 1972, Moynihan supplies a plausible answer:

Urban disorder all but ceased in the summer of 1969, while by 1971 the topic itself had receded from public attention. [To return?  No one, of course, could know.]


But in the winter of 1968-1969, as the administration changed, no government could foresee this decline in overt violence, and even had that been possible, a responsible Administration would have had to regard the period as breathing space at most.75

So Moynihan stresses that while planning FAP it was hard to tell that the five summers of urban disorders had subsided though by 1972 that was clear enough.  As he tries to explain how an Administration in 1968-9 could have thought FAP necessary to restore domestic tranquility, his tone seems almost apologetic for not having foreseen that the redistributive elements of FAP were politically unnecessary.   


If Moynihan is right, the Family Assistance Plan was proposed in 1969 in large measure as an attempt to damp down the urban disorders in African American neighborhoods.  Nixon’s 1969 promise, against the wishes of his conservative political base to punish welfare recipients, to make none of the AFDC poor in those neighborhoods worse off in income transfer terms was part of that same riot control strategy.  However, by 1972 the urban disorders had disappeared so that there was no longer a political reason for Nixon to keep his promise.  So in the 1969-1972 period welfare reform that involved an NIT probably died for three reasons.  Conservatives demanded more onerous work requirements than liberals would accept.  Liberals demanded reform that made none of the poor worse off in income transfer terms and conservatives refused.  The Administration retracted its proposed reform making none of the poor worse off in income transfer terms, after realizing that the threat to domestic tranquility had ended.

